STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jan 12 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KIERIN MARCELLUS DENNIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001486

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the second circuit court judge erred by relying on evidence from a prior mistrial and a prior immunity hearing held before that mistrial to deny appellant immunity from prosecution, pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, since the prior mistrial and the pre-trial hearing held before the mistrial were both a nullity?

2.

Whether the second circuit court judge after the mistrial erred by denying appellant immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because there was inconsistent testimony, reasoning that inconsistent evidence made self-defense a jury issue, since that was improper pursuant to State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 827 S.E.2d 564 (2019)?

3.

Whether, in the alternative, both circuit court judges erred by denying appellant immunity based upon the legally erroneous reasons that appellant had a duty to retreat from the situation at the Cook-Out or to avoid going there altogether since under the Protection of Persons and Property Act appellant was acting legally in a place where he had a right to be when he was attacked in his vehicle, and he had no duty to retreat pursuant to S.C. Code §16-11-440 (A) & (C)?

4.

Whether the second circuit court judge erred by denying appellant immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act, where appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence his entitlement to that immunity under both S.C. Code § 16-11-440(A) and the “stand your ground” provision of § 16-11-440(C), particularly where the court erroneously reasoned

that inconsistent evidence made self-defense a jury issue, that appellant had a duty to retreat, or even to avoid going to “a place he had the right to be” altogether?

5.

Whether, in the alternative if the first circuit court judge’s order alone controlled, he erred by denying appellant immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act, where appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence his entitlement to that immunity under both S.C. Code § 16-11-440(A) and the “stand your ground” provision of § 16-11-440(C), particularly where the court erroneously reasoned that that appellant had a duty to retreat, or even avoid going to “a place he had the right to be” altogether?

6.

Whether the trial court erred in allowing the state to introduce an aerial photograph of the incident location where the photograph depicted three vehicles parked side by side in a two-lane roadway which had been staged by law enforcement officers and gave the materially false impression that the road was three lanes wide and that it was easier to “retreat.”?

7.

Whether the trial court erred in allowing the state to introduce a model car door of a Ford Explorer created by the state’s investigator where that model was substantially different from appellant’s actual vehicle and the use of the model was highly misleading and resulted in an inaccurate representation of the incident?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Kierin Dennis was indicted at the June, 2014 term of the Lexington County grand jury for the offense of murder. R. p. *. A pre-trial immunity hearing was held pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code §16-11-440 (A)&(C), on November 17-19, 2014 before the Honorable Thomas Russo. Todd Rutherford and Simone Martin represented appellant. Richard S. Hubbard, III, and Shawn Graham were the solicitors. PT. II, 1. On February 4, 2015, Judge Russo issued a written order denying immunity. R. p. *.

A jury trial was then held from October 3-11, 2016 before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. R. p. *. Judge Griffith declared a mistrial on October 11, 2016 as the result of a hung jury. R. p. *.

When the state again chose to call the call to trial, a pre-trial immunity hearing was held before the Honorable Robert E. Hood from August 22-24, 2017 over the state's objection that appellant was not entitled to an immunity hearing despite the mistrial. Todd Rutherford again represented appellant. Shawn Graham and Rhonda Patterson were the assistant solicitors. PT1. 1. Arguments on appellant's entitlement to immunity were later held before Judge Hood on September 18, 2017. Todd Rutherford represented appellant. Shawn Graham and Rhonda Patterson were the assistant solicitors. PT2, 1.

Through counsel, appellant filed a Brief in Support of Defendant's Renewed Motion for Hearing Pursuant to S.C. Code §16-11-440 (A)&(C) dated September 21, 2017. R. p. *. Judge Hood issued an order dated October 11, 2017, denying appellant immunity. R. p. *.

Appellant's case then came on for trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and a jury from August 19-27, 2019. Todd Rutherford and Nicole Simpson represented appellant. Solicitor Rick Hubbard and Assistant Solicitor Rhonda Patterson represented the state. R. p. *.

On August 27, 2019, the jury found appellant guilty. Tr. 1180, ll. 13-20. Judge Griffith sentenced appellant to thirty years' imprisonment. Tr. 1197, ll. 2-6.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The first immunity hearing before Judge Russo

On the night of February 17, 2014, appellant attended a basketball game between Lexington High School, his alma mater, and rival Dutch Fork High School. PT1. 482, ll. 2-9. The game was held in the Lexington High School Gymnasium. Appellant's friends, Keith Adams, Lucky Cook, William Zander, and Morgan Zander also attended the game. PT1. 8, ll. 10-25; PT1. 162, ll. 19-22. Given past difficulties between students from the rival schools, additional security measures were taken as a precaution. After the game, which Dutch Fork won, Lexington High School students were directed to leave the building through the front of the gymnasium, while the Dutch Fork High School students were required to leave through the back to prevent the comingling of students from the two schools. PT1. 9, ll. 1-23; PTI. 160, ll. 13-24; PT1. 359, ll. 9-16.

As appellant and his friends were walking through the front lobby to the parking lot, numerous Dutch Fork students made their way to the lobby and began taunting and harassing the Lexington students. During the ensuing chaos, appellant became separated from his friends. A student from Dutch Fork followed appellant to his car. The school resource officer pulled a taser and ordered the students to leave. Eventually all the students scattered, and appellant safely got into his car and left. PT1. 246, l. 5 – 247, l. 23. Appellant never said a word to any of the Dutch Fork students in the parking lot. PT1. 247, l. 24 – 248, l. 6.

After the game, appellant and his friends went to the Cook Out. The Cook Out was a “hangout spot” for Lexington students after sporting events. It was only two to three miles from the school. PT1. 14, l. 21 – 15, l. 3; PT1. 222, l. 24 – 223, l. 1. Appellant, who was driving a gold Ford Explorer, parked at the carwash behind the Cook Out since the Cook Out parking lot was full. Will Zander, who was driving Morgan Zander and Lucky Cook, also parked at the carwash while Keith Adams parked at the PetSmart adjacent to the Cook Out. PT1. 14, ll. 9-20; PT1. 250, ll. 7-10.

As appellant and his friends were walking toward the Cook Out, they ran into Austin Sanders, a fellow Lexington student, in the parking lot. PT1. 250, ll. 7-13. Sanders told appellant that while he was in the Cook Out drive thru line, several Dutch Fork students approached and began shaking his car. The students were “rowdy” and harassed other people in the drive thru as well. PT1. 250, l. 13 – 251, l. 9.

After speaking with Sanders, appellant and his friends entered the front door of the Cook Out. Despite the Cook Out being a Lexington High “hangout,” there were at least thirty to forty students from Dutch Fork inside. PT1. 17, ll. 8-16. As soon as appellant and his friends entered, Michael James, who attended Dutch Fork, approached appellant, threw his hands into the air, and asked, “That’s all y’all brought?” PT1. 251, ll. 10-21. Appellant calmly responded, “We just came here to eat.” PT1. 251, ll. 21-22. Appellant and his friends then went to wait in line to order food. PT1. 251, l. 23 – 252, l. 12.

While they were waiting in line, appellant overheard Dutch Fork students “picking on Lucky [Cook] about his sweater.” PT1. 252, l. 13 – 253, l. 3. Michael James, the same student who confronted appellant when he entered the restaurant, stood up on a chair behind Keith Adams, put his fist over Keith’s head, and motioned as if he was going to punch Keith.

Appellant and his friends continued to ignore the Dutch Fork students and waited for their food. PT1. 253, ll. 3-13.

Given the uncomfortable atmosphere, appellant told his friends, "Let's leave," and "we just need to go," but his friends wanted to wait for their food since they had already ordered. Appellant told his friends he would pay them back for the food they had ordered but that they needed to leave. PT1. 253, l. 25 – 254, l. 11. Appellant received a phone call and he stepped outside. PT1. 16, ll. 12-13; PT1. 253, ll. 19-22. Keith Adams followed appellant outside because he did not want appellant "outside by himself." PT1. 16, ll. 21-25. Shortly thereafter, Lucky Cook, Will Zander, and Morgan Zander walked outside too without their food. The group of friends were all standing by a trashcan outside. PT1. 17, ll. 18-25. Michael James walked past them. When James reached the middle of the parking lot, he turned around, threw his hands in the air, and asked, "Are you still salty?" Appellant responded, "The game was thirty, thirty-five minutes ago. Y'all won. Congratulations." PT1. 254, ll. 13-22. To avoid any confrontation, appellant then told his friends, "Guys come on, let's go" and the group began walking toward their cars. PT1. 254, l. 22 – 255, l. 8.

As they were walking, appellant heard "a whole bunch of noise behind" him. PT1. 255, ll. 8-10. When he turned around, the Dutch Fork students were "rushing" out of the Cook Out. PT1. 19, ll. 1-3; PT1. 255, ll. 10-12. About thirty to forty students "poured out." PT1. 84, ll. 4-21. They were yelling and "pulling their pants up . . . like they were getting ready to fight" or "jump" appellant and his friends. PT1. 255, ll. 12-14. Da'Von Capers, the decedent, called Morgan Zander "a bitch." PT1. 18, l. 21 – 19, l. 1; PT1. 85, ll. 2-24; PT1. 255, l. 22 – 256, l. 4. Appellant continued to walk backwards toward his car. PT1. 255, ll. 14-16. Keith Adams was "speed walking" to his car while Will Zander ran to his car. PT1. 20, ll. 10-22; PT1. 86, ll. 3-6.

The Dutch Fork students followed closely behind. After safely reaching his car, Will picked up his sister, Morgan, and Lucky Cook in the roadway near the Cook Out. PT1. 86, ll. 3-8.

After reaching their cars, Keith Adams and appellant met in the roadway between the PetSmart and the carwash. PT1. 256, ll. 13-20. They parked with their driver side windows next to each other. Appellant was facing the PetSmart and Keith was facing the Cook Out. They spoke for about two to three minutes about their plans. Appellant told Keith he was going home because he had to be at work at 5:30 the following morning. Keith was going to his father's house. PT1. 256, l. 13 – 257, l. 17. While the pair talked, Will Zander turned his car around in the PetSmart parking lot and parked behind Keith. PT1. 22, ll. 2-8; PT1. 86, l. 19 – 87, l. 4.

Keith Adams eventually drove away first. PT1. 23, ll. 13-17; PT1. 87, ll. 5-9. He pulled forward and drove through the driveway between the Cook Out and the PetSmart. PT1. 22, l. 19 – 23, l. 17. There were numerous students from Dutch Fork standing on the curb and in the roadway near this exit. Keith explained that he took this exit because it was closest to the interstate where he was headed and because the other exit had a traffic light that “takes forever.” PT1. 22, l. 21 – 23, l. 19. Keith eventually turned right out of the parking lot onto the main road. PT1. 22, l. 21 – 23, l. 19.

Will Zander, who was directly behind Keith, followed the same path past the Dutch Fork group of people who were standing on the curb and in the roadway. Will explained that he did not take the other exit near the Cook Out drive thru because it was “too congested” and he “always” took the exit between the Cook Out and the PetSmart. PT1. 87, ll. 5-17.

As Will was driving to the exit, he heard the Dutch Fork students in the roadway yelling. Will's driver's side window was already down. PT1. 87, ll. 18-21. Will stopped his car, dug in his pocket, grabbed four dollars in cash and coins, and threw it out the window. PT1. 87, l. 21 –

88, l. 23. There was testimony Will said: “Hey, this is what y’all are worth.” PT1. 543, l. 2 – 546, l. 15. Several students from Dutch Fork, including Devon Chatman and Tyreke Farrow, ran into the road to pick up the money. PT1. 89, ll. 7-20; PT1. 451, ll. 19-25.

After Keith Adams and Will Zander pulled away, appellant backed his car up so he could likewise leave through the main exit between the PetSmart and the Cook Out. After he reversed, appellant put his car back in drive and looked forward. PT1. 258, ll. 7-11. When he looked up, he saw Will’s car stopped in the roadway. It was surrounded by Dutch Fork students. PT1. 258, l. 25 – 259, l. 2. Appellant did not know at the time that Will had thrown money into the road. PT1. 258, ll. 12-21. He feared the Dutch Fork students were going to attack Will. Appellant sped forward to make sure Will was alright. PT1. 258, l. 24 – 259, l. 5; PT1. 259, ll. 14-24.

Appellant stopped behind Will’s car. As soon as appellant stopped, Dutch Fork students surrounded his vehicle and approached his window, which was still about halfway down from when he was talking to Keith. PT1. 281, ll. 3-7. The students were yelling at appellant, ordering him to get out of the car, and calling him names – “pussy” and “bitch.” PT1. 260, ll. 8-13; PT1. 262, ll. 10-15. Hands started reaching into appellant’s window. He thought they were trying to attack him and “forcefully” pull him out of the car. PT1. 260, ll. 13-15. With his foot still on the brake, appellant leaned as far into the car as possible to get away from the Dutch Fork students. PT1. 260, ll. 15-19.

Appellant was scared and he feared for his life. PT1. 260, ll. 19-20; PT1. 262, ll. 22-23. He could not leave because Will’s car was parked in front of him and there were Dutch Fork students in front and around his car. PT1. 265, l. 22 – 266, l. 17. Appellant had a knife in his center console. PT1. 262, ll. 24-25. He grabbed it, reached across his body with his right hand,

struck, and then drove away. PT1. 262, l. 24 – 263, l. 2. He did not realize he had stabbed anyone. PT1. 268, ll. 15-20.

Joshua Brooks, who attended Lexington High School, was at the Cook Out that night. PT1. 222, l. 11 – 223, l. 1. He watched as a “whole bunch” of Dutch Fork students crowded around appellant’s car in the roadway. PT1. 224, ll. 13-25. The students were “banging” on appellant’s car “trying to scare him.” Others were reaching in appellant’s window. PT1. 225, ll. 1-3. Appellant could not leave because Will Zander’s car was parked directly in front of appellant. PT1. 226, ll. 14-21. Brooks saw Will get out of his car. Brooks told Will “to leave, get out of here, you don’t want any problems.” He knew Will and appellant were greatly outnumbered and they “were being threatened” by the Dutch Fork students. PT1. 225, ll. 10-15. Will eventually got back into his car. Brooks watched appellant drive off followed by Will. PT1. 224, ll. 13-19; PT1. 225, ll. 4-9.

Kenneth Williams, who attended Dutch Fork, was a prosecution witness. He testified that he was standing on the curb by the roadway at the Cook Out. PT1. 449, l. 20 – 450, l. 8. He saw Will Zander stop in the middle of the road and throw money out his window. PT1. 450, l. 12 – 451, l. 5. Several Dutch Fork students, including Tyreke Farrow and Devon Chatman, ran into the road to pick up the money. PT1. 451, ll. 9-25. Williams said appellant pulled up “pretty fast” behind Will and claimed that he almost hit Farrow and Chatman. PT1. 451, l. 23 – 452, l. 14. This upset the Dutch Fork students. PT1. 452, ll. 10-19. They all “lined up” outside appellant’s window. PT1. 452, ll. 20-22. Although Williams never approached appellant’s window, he maintained that he saw appellant’s hand come out of his window and strike Da’Von Capers, the decedent. PT1. 452, l. 20 – 453, l. 9. He thought appellant just pushed Capers until Capers said, “they got me” and ran to a vehicle. PT1. 453, ll. 10-24. Williams later admitted

that he saw Capers reach into appellant's window, but he strangely maintained it was after appellant had stabbed him. PT1. 469, l. 4 – 470, l. 5.

Devon Chatman, who attended Dutch Fork, was another prosecution witness. He was also standing on the curb by the roadway near the exit between the Cook Out and the PetSmart. PT1. 485, l. 13 – 486, l. 4. He saw Will Zander pull up, stop his car, and throw money out the window. Chatman ran into the road to pick up the money. PT1. 486, ll. 5-7. When Chatman was in the middle of the road with several other students, appellant sped around the corner, pulled forward, and Chatman said he was almost struck in the leg. He estimated for the solicitor that the car missed his leg by about three to five feet. PT1. 488, ll. 4-15. Chatman claimed that if he had not jumped out of the way, he would have been hit. PT1. 488, ll. 16-19. Numerous Dutch Fork students surrounded appellant's window and confronted appellant. Chatman was not one of the students who approached appellant's window. PT1. 490, l. 1 – 491, l. 13.

Alexis Brunson, who also attended Dutch Fork, did approach appellant's car after she maintained he almost hit several students in the roadway. PT1. 512, ll. 5-25. She confronted appellant and yelled, "What are you doing? Are you crazy? You almost ran over some of our students." PT1. 513, ll. 12-21. Brunson was livid. PT1. 514, ll. 17-19. She claimed she did not see anyone touch appellant's car or reach in his window. PT1. 515, ll. 16-23. Appellant had his hand down by his thigh and Brunson maintained appellant said, "You don't want this. You don't want what I got." Brunson saw appellant punch Da'Von Capers with his right hand. She claimed appellant's hand came out of the window when he punched. PT1. 516, l. 14 – 517, l. 11. She did not see a knife. PT1. 529, ll. 1-5. After Capers was struck, Brunson said Capers tried to punch back, but appellant drove away. PT1. 517, ll. 16-21. Brunson said there was nothing stopping appellant from leaving. He was not blocked in, she claimed. PT1. 517, l. 25 – 518, l. 6.

Brunson admitted that she did not know if Capers threatened appellant before appellant struck him. PT1. 537, ll. 4-24; PT1. 539, ll. 1-5.

Tyreke Farrow, another Dutch Fork student, was crossing the street to the PetSmart where his friend's car was parked when he saw Will Zander throw money into the road. PT1. 543, l. 2 – 546, l. 15. When Farrow was in the road, he said he saw “a car coming full speed” toward him. Farrow jumped and his cousin, Xavier Holiday pulled him out of the way. PT1. 546, l. 16 – 547, l. 5. Farrow identified appellant as the driver of this car. PT1. 547, ll. 6-12. He claimed he would have been hit if he had not jumped out of the way. PT1. 547, ll. 13-15.

Farrow walked up to appellant's car and said, “What the fuck are you doing? Are you trying to hit me with your car?” PT1. 547, ll. 16-19. At least seven other Dutch Fork students approached the car, including Xavier Holiday, Lamar Butler, and Da'Von Capers. PT1. 547, l. 19 – 548, l. 4. Capers confronted appellant. He yelled, “What are you doing? You're trying to hit people in the road. Get out of your car if you want to hit people.” PT1. 548, ll. 3-6. Farrow claimed appellant said, “I got something for y'all. Hey, yo, come here, come here.” PT1. 548, ll. 7-10. Farrow said appellant then struck Capers with his right hand and drove away. PT1. 548, ll. 10-14. Farrow saw appellant's hand come out the window, but he did not see a knife. PT1. 553, l. 6 – 554, l. 11. According to Farrow, no one touched appellant's car or reached into the window. PT1. 550, ll. 20-24.

Lamar Butler, who also attended Dutch Fork, saw Will Zander throw money into the road. He also testified that Will said, “This is what y'all are worth.” PT1. 568, l. 17 – 569, l. 24. At least three Dutch Fork students went into the road to pick up the money, including Tyreke Farrow. PT1. 570, ll. 6-23. Appellant sped forward and Butler maintained he almost struck them with his car. Xavier Holiday pulled Farrow out of the roadway. PT1. 371, ll. 1-25.

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