RECEIVED

Oct 11 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001486

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

KIERIN MARCELLUS DENNIS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

S. R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street, 3rd Floor
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8352

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

ARGUMENT

I. Judge Hood Improperly Issued a Second Immunity Ruling but the Error was Harmless; The Appellant Cannot Complain that He was Granted the Relief he Asked For

Appellant moved for an immunity hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act prior to his first trial and the Honorable Thomas A. Russo denied immunity after hearing testimony from fourteen witnesses, including the Appellant. After the first trial ended with an 11-1 hung jury in favor of conviction, Appellant moved for a second immunity hearing based on “newly-discovered evidence,” even though the Solicitor later established that all of the evidence Appellant argued was “new” had been turned over to him prior to the first hearing and trial.

The second judge, the Honorable Robert E. Hood, heard testimony from Appellant’s additional witnesses that purportedly had “new” evidence to bring forth in order to avoid a future post-conviction relief issue, and incorporated the transcript from Judge Russo’s hearing into his analysis of whether the Appellant was entitled to immunity. Judge Hood also denied Appellant relief. Now the Appellant argues that Judge Hood improperly incorporated and relied on the evidence presented at the first hearing in deciding whether to grant immunity. The State strongly disagrees with this allegation of error and submits Appellant’s argument is without merit.

Appellant cannot complain of an issue his own actions induced. Appellant failed to discover or elucidate the “new” testimony the first time and was not entitled to a second “bite at the apple” just because he failed to thoroughly review properly disclosed discovery or interview witnesses before his first hearing. No case law, statute, or regulation exists that would have entitled the Appellant to a new hearing. The Appellant himself moved for the hearing and Judge Hood’s actions of allowing the Appellant to proffer his “new” evidence cannot be shown to have prejudiced the Appellant in any way, as he was allowed to present additional evidence that could have established the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. He was given

a *second* immunity analysis and Order by a Circuit Court judge: something no South Carolina defendant has ever been allowed to have.⁴ This Court should hold that the judge improperly, yet harmlessly, issued a second immunity Order and establish a bright-line rule that defendants are not entitled to a “second bite” at the immunity apple.

Relevant Facts

A. June 2017 – Defense’s Motion for a New Hearing

After the Appellant’s first trial ended in a hung jury in October of 2016, the defense moved for a new immunity hearing in June of 2017. They alleged that Elizabeth “Beth” Bettini, a witness who testified at the first hearing, had witnessed the attack and had called 911 while in the Cook-Out drive-thru, and that as neither the State nor the defense had obtained the 911 call recording prior to the last immunity hearing or trial, they should be allowed to present it at a new hearing.⁵ June 2017 R. 2922, 2935. They also alleged that the manager of the Cook-Out, Zach Lynch, had seen Da’Von Capers reach inside the Appellant’s vehicle from across the parking lot, and that this was “newly discovered” evidence, even though the defense was aware he was a witness prior to and at the first immunity hearing and trial. Lynch also testified at the first hearing but failed to tell the judge he had seen Capers’ alleged hand movement. June 2017 R. 2922-23.

B. August 22 and 24, 2017: Second Immunity hearing before Judge Robert E. Hood

The Honorable Robert E. Hood heard arguments from both the State and the defense before the hearing as to why or why not the defense should be allowed to proffer the “new” evidence. Aug. 2017 R. 1657.

⁴ Pursuant to the thorough, yet open to correction, research of the State.

⁵ Beth Bettini’s 911 call was never obtained or presented in open court.

Keep in mind I have never worked on this case before so I need a kind of a procedural history of what occurred and when it occurred so I can wrap my own mind about it I need to understand the procedural history of the case before we start.

Aug. 2017 R. 1662.

The State, referencing the written motion the defense had previously filed:

Your Honor, the motion that Mr. Rutherford filed is asking for an entirely new hearing and it looks like his number 4 is talking about new evidence consisting of testimony by Elizabeth Bettini stating she witnessed Da’Von Capers attack Kierin Dennis while in an occupied vehicle. Bettini then called 911 giving a detailed account of the incident based on her impressions of what she heard and we entered the dash cam into evidence.

Then his fifth point talks about the 911 recordings never being produced at trial, no valid reason for giving further omission. He talks about a dash cam video during trial revealing Elizabeth Bettini’s present sense impression on the attack unfolded as articulated during her testimony and that would be her testimony at trial that resulted in a mistrial.

Seven talks about the manager of the Cook-Out Restaurant on duty the night in question. His name is Zachary Lynch . . . [and he] was standing outside while taking a break. He testified as to his vantage point during the attack on the defendant and recalled that Da’Von Capers was, in fact, the aggressor when Capers entered Kierin Dennis’ occupied vehicle. Those are the only grounds that Mr. Rutherford is alleging in his motion as being new.

Aug. 2017 R. 1666-67.

The State then argued the defense had no rule, statute, or case law to stand on to prove they were authorized to have a second “stand your ground” hearing. Aug. 2017 R. 1667. They argued the defense had chosen to call the hearing when they did and that it was their burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the Appellant was entitled to immunity. That it was the Appellant’s choice as to who to call as witnesses and the Appellant’s choice of what to present as evidence at that first hearing. Aug. 2017 R. 1667. They argued that Beth Bettini was listed as the *complainant* in the police report, had given a written statement to law enforcement, and had given her statement on two dash camera videos that were all turned over to the defense prior to the hearing. Aug. 2017 R. 1667. The State argued that Zachary Lynch had also written

two statements and had given a recorded interview at police headquarters that were also turned over before the first hearing and that their testimony could not, in fact, be “new”. Aug. 2017 R. 1668.

The State argued alternatively that the only rule that was close enough in comparison was Rule 29(b), SCRCF, that addressed the grounds for a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence. Aug. 2017 R. 1668-69. They argued that the evidence was not newly-discovered and that it could have been ascertained with the exercise of reasonable diligence prior to the last immunity hearing. Aug. 2017 R. 1669. They presented *State v. Harris*, 381 S.C. 539 (Ct. App. 2011)⁶ to the judge, where the Court held the denial of a new trial was not an abuse of discretion as the decision was well within the sound discretion of the trial judge. Aug. 2017 R. 1671. The defense then argued why they should get a new hearing. Aug. 2017 R. 1677-93.

Judge Hood then stated:

I think the only way to do this and this is what I’ve been thinking about this now for a while, I think the only way to do this is to let Mr. Rutherford proffer all of his testimony because let’s play this out. Scenario number 1 is I say no, you’re not entitled to another hearing. There is no rule that permits it and I’m not gonna let you present anything. If we end up in an appellate situation at that point they could say return it for a hearing to determine whether or not the information mattered.

So I’m gonna skip that step all together. I’m going to let Mr. Rutherford present this evidence, present whoever else he wants to in regards to the stand your ground issue and then if the State needs to reply to that, I will let them reply to that. If you don’t need to reply to that, then I will review the entire testimony of the stand your ground hearing. Do we have that transcript?

⁶ The test for a new trial is the movant must show: (1) The evidence is such as will probably change the result if a new trial is granted; (2) The evidence has been discovered since the trial; (3) The evidence could not have been discovered before the trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) The evidence is material to the issue; and (5) The evidence is not merely cumulative or impeaching. *State v. Harris*, 381 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct. App. 2011) (“The issue comes down to a matter of the credibility of the witnesses, which we leave to the trial court’s discretion”); *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618, 619-620, 513 S.E.2d 98, 99 (1999).

I will review whatever anybody wants me to review. Now, we're talking, one, seven, ten plus pages of testimony, right? Eight, nine, 10 days of testimony if I'm considering them all together so I'm not gonna be able to review it today, you know, or maybe even this week, but I will – What I want to do is create a record on what Mr. Rutherford believes he should have presented at the original hearing and let's create that so it exists, so that that factor exists. So I don't want to put us in a situation where we're creating some kind of precedent where everybody and their mother can come back and ask for a stand your ground hearing upon stand your ground hearing upon stand your ground hearing.

I also don't want to create a situation where it just gets appealed for us to come back and have this, you know, quote, unquote, hearing to proffer this evidence. I think the safest way to do it is to allow the evidence to be proffered and then I can consider everything and then even at that point I can make the decision. I can make multiple decisions. I can make the decision that he's entitled to immunity. I can make the decision that he's not even entitled to a hearing and there's no rule that permits it. Or I can make the decision that he was entitled to another hearing and he's not entitled to immunity.

So I'm not foregoing any of those legal arguments by allowing him to present this evidence. Does that make sense? So I'm still gonna allow the State to argue he shouldn't even be allowed to do this, there is no rule, that line of thought process, but I think the safest way to do it is to create a full and complete record of everything, let me review everything and then maybe once I've reviewed everything, we can get everybody back together and y'all can put your thoughts together and organize them the way you want to and do a hearing where there's no testimony, where it's just legal arguments once I've had a chance to process everything, okay? So that's what we're gonna do and you ready to go forward with that?

Aug. 2017 R. 1695-1700.

The defense then called the following witnesses to proffer the evidence they claimed was “newly discovered”: Caitlin Voravudhi, Janice Edwards Ross, M.D., Beth Bettini, Zachary Lynch, Nikki Rogers, Alexis Brunson, Devon Chatman, Marc Miramontes, Brent Carter, and Ervin Chauncy Meggett.⁷

⁷ Witnesses who testified at the first immunity hearing were Lexington High School graduates Keith Adams, Will Zander, Joshua Brooks, and the Appellant; Lexington High School student Morgan Zander; Dutch Fork High School graduates Deshon Chatman, Devon Chatman, Alexis Brunson, and Kenneth Williams; Dutch Fork High School students Walden Roberson, Tyreke Farrow, and Lamar Butler; independent witness Pastor Bill Howard, who testified as a character witness for the Appellant; and Investigator Brent Carter with the Town of Lexington Police Department.

C. September 18, 2017 – Immunity Argument before Judge Hood

As promised, the judge allowed the State and the defense to put their arguments for and against a new immunity hearing on the record a few weeks later on September 18, 2017. He began the hearing with a summary of what he had allowed on August 22 and 24, 2017 and why:

[You] were essentially allowed to proffer that testimony so that a record was created so that one day in the future, depending on whatever happens with this case, we don't need to be guessing as to what the defense would have shown or what these witnesses would have said

[T]o get them on the record, to get them cross-examined they called those witnesses along with Dr. Ross, and then I allowed the State to respond to that and then I was provided the transcripts from the original immunity hearing and the original trial I told the State that they would still be allowed to make the argument that the hearing itself isn't even proper and shouldn't even happen. I wasn't gonna preclude them from doing that and so let's start.

Sept. 2017 R. 2043-44.

The defense then argued why their evidence was newly-discovered and the State argued why they were not entitled to a new hearing. Sept. 2017 R. 2046-79. The Solicitor first gave the judge a 15-page memorandum and then argued that S.C. Code § 16-11-450 and *State v. Duncan* laid out the procedure for a stand your ground hearing, and that neither said a defendant was entitled to multiple immunity hearings. The Solicitor told the judge he had conducted research and had not been able to find a single state anywhere in the United States that allowed a second stand your ground hearing.

[A]t what point would it ever end? Every time the defendant comes up with a new piece of evidence that they claim changes something, you would have to have another hearing. Every time that you schedule a trial date, if the defendant came up with something new that hasn't been considered, you would have to have another hearing. You would never be able to have any finality. I think that's why it's not – I think that's why it's not allowed. It may be silent on that, but I think that's why it's not allowed and why we haven't seen it.

It was their motion to seek immunity. They chose that date and time. They had their hearing on the information they chose to present. They knew about Beth Bettini and

Zachary Lynch. They knew about Dr. Ross. They chose not to call them for whatever reason. It's not new evidence . . . he's asking you to set new precedent with no supporting law to back it up.

Aug. 2017 R. 2052-55.

The Solicitor then discussed the five factors the Court set forth in *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618, 513 S.E.2d 98 (1999), that a defendant would have to prove to be granted a new trial, as it was the only legal rule anywhere close to being relevant to the argument at hand.⁸

I can't imagine a scenario for a hearing where they would be allowed to say less and to have another hearing. [*Spann* discussed] a trial where someone has been convicted. It seems like that any benefit would go to the individual who has been convicted. The purpose of the immunity statute was to allow a defendant to convince the Court that they shouldn't have to face the publicity and the rigors of a trial, and he's had that opportunity.

Aug. 2017 R. 2056-57.

The Solicitor told the judge that neither side had obtained a copy of the 911 call and that it was no longer available for retrieval. However, Beth Bettini's dash camera testimony and her written statement had been produced prior to the last hearing. Aug. 2017 R. 2057-59. She did not report at that point that she had called 911, had seen the stabbing, or had seen fear in the Appellant's eyes. *Id.* The Solicitor argued that went to her credibility. Aug. 2017 R. 2096. He then analyzed the five *Spann* factors and argued why the Appellant had not met them in order to be entitled to a new immunity hearing. Aug. 2017 R. 2057-62. He did the same thing with the alleged "newly-discovered" testimony of Zachary Lynch and argued that the testimony presented on August 22 and 24, 2017 was cumulative at best. Aug. 2017 R. 2062-69 He concluded by making an argument as to why the Appellant had not established he was entitled to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. Aug. 2017 R. 1688-97.

⁸ Like *Harris*, *Spann* included the following factors: (1) The results would probably change if a new trial is granted; (2) The evidence was discovered since the trial; (3) It could not have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence; (4) Is material to the issue; and (5) Is not merely cumulative or impeaching. *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618, 620, 513 S.E.2d 98, 99 (1999).

There is no precedent for a second immunity hearing. [But if you have to, you could] adopt the five-factor test and agree that the defendant failed to establish proper testimony that entitles [him] to a new hearing. If you find [he] are entitled to a new hearing, find he has failed to prove his burden by a preponderance.

Aug. 2017 R. 2080.

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